IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION TWO** STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. LA'JUANTA CONNER, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY The Honorable Jeanette Dalton, Judge **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney for Appellant

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney at Law P.O. Box 761 Manchester, WA 98353 (360) 876-2736

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court's material departure from the statutory requirements for jury selection requires remand for a new trial.
- 2. Improper admission of a police officer's opinion as to appellant's veracity violated his right to a jury trial and requires reversal.
- 3. Trial counsel's failure to object to the improper opinion testimony constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel.
- 4. The court's improper missing witness instruction denied appellant his constitutional right to a fair trial.
- 5. The court commented on the evidence by instructing the jury to disregard key arguments of the defense.
 - 6. An error in the Judgment and Sentence must be corrected

 <u>Issues pertaining to assignments of error</u>
- 1. Before the jury was sworn one of the jurors informed the court that the judge had presided over her son's trial. The juror was questioned by the court and the parties. No challenge was made, and she was sworn as a juror. After two days of trial, the prosecutor moved to exercise a peremptory challenge based on information she had learned from the prosecutor who tried the previous case. Where the prosecutor could have learned this information by questioning the juror or

investigating before the jury was sworn, did the mid-trial exercise of a peremptory constitute a material departure from the rules regarding jury selection, requiring reversal?

- 2. A police officer testified that he used a ruse when interviewing appellant because he did not believe appellant was being truthful and he wanted to elicit the truth. Did this opinion as to appellant's credibility or guilt violate his right to a jury trial?
- 3. Where trial counsel failed to object to the officer's improper opinion, did appellant receive ineffective assistance of counsel?
- 4. The court granted the State's request for a missing witness instruction based on its mistaken belief that defense counsel had told the jury in opening statement that the witness would testify. Where the witness could not have provided material testimony and would have risked self-incrimination by testifying, did the instruction and argument that the jury could infer the potential testimony would be unfavorable to the defense deny appellant a fair trial?
- 5. During defense counsel's closing argument, the court sustained the prosecutor's objections that counsel was mischaracterizing the evidence and instructed the jury to disregard the argument. Where counsel's arguments drew reasonable inferences from the evidence at trial, did the court's instructions constitute a comment on the evidence?

6. The jury found by special verdict that appellant was not armed with a firearm during one of the charged burglaries. Although the judgment and sentence correctly indicates the total confinement imposed by the court, it incorrectly indicates that a firearm enhancement is imposed on that offense. Must the judgment and sentence be corrected?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. Procedural History

On June 8, 2011, the Kitsap County Prosecuting Attorney charged appellant La'Juanta Conner with conspiracy to commit first degree burglary and first degree robbery, and second degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1-9. The information was amended twice, and Conner went to trial before the Honorable Jeanette Dalton on six counts of first degree burglary, eight counts of first degree robbery, two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm, two counts of possession of a stolen firearm, one count of possession of marijuana, four counts of second degree theft, one count of theft of a firearm, one count of third degree theft, and one count of third degree possession of stolen property. CP 208-30. The State alleged that Conner was armed with a firearm during the burglaries and robberies. Id.

The jury found Conner not guilty of possession of marijuana and not guilty of possession of stolen property but guilty of the remaining offenses. It found he was not armed with a firearm during the commission of the burglary alleged in count XIX but found the firearm allegations were proven as to the other counts. CP 300-315. The court imposed a total sentence of 1148.5 months. CP 333. Conner filed this appeal. CP 342.

2. **Substantive Facts**

12th Street

On September 15, 2010, Robert Dato sat in the living room of his apartment on 12th Street in Bremerton, watching television with the front door open. He heard a knock, and when he looked up he saw a black man with a mask and a gun. The man said, "Where is the shit?" Dato thought at first that it was a joke, but then he realized he was being robbed. 20RP¹ 1025-27. The man waved the gun around and walked into the bedroom, where Dato's brother, Aaron Dato, was sitting. Robert followed him into the room and told Aaron they were being robbed. 20RP 1027-28.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is designated as follows: 1RP—10/6/11; 2RP— 12/2/11, 1/20/12; 3RP—12/16/11; 4RP—4/9/12; 5RP—4/11/12; 6RP—4/12/12; 7RP— 4/16/12; 8RP—4/19/12; 9RP—4/20/12; 10RP—4/23/12 a.m.; 11RP—4/23/12 p.m.; 12RP—4/24/12; 13RP—4/25/12; 14RP—4/26/12; 15RP—5/3/12; 16RP—5/7/12; 17RP—5/8/12; 18RP—5/9/12; 19RP—5/10/12; 20RP—5/14/12; 21RP—5/15/12; 22RP—5/16/12; 23RP—5/17/12; 24RP—5/17/12; 25RP—5/21/12; 26RP—5/22/12; 27RP—5/23/12; 28RP—5/24/12; 29RP—5/29/12; 30RP—5/30/12; 31RP—5/31/12; 32RP—6/4/12; 33RP—6/5/12; 34RP—6/6/12; 35RP—6/7/12; 36RP—6/8/12; 37RP— 6/11/12; 38RP—7/27/12; 39RP—5/7/12 (opening statements).

The first man to enter the apartment was wearing a red bandana and had braids. He pulled the bandana off his face at one point. Robert saw the arm of a second man, which he described as light-skinned black and holding a silver gun. 20RP 1029-30. The intruders took two televisions, two Xboxes, a Blackberry, \$700 in cash, and Robert's backpack with tools in it. 20RP 1031. When they left, Robert and Aaron walked to their sister's house to call the police. 20RP 1034.

Bremerton police responded. They contacted Robert Dato and drove him back to the apartment. Robert reported that there were multiple assailants with guns, and police saw spaces in the apartment where televisions and gaming systems were missing. 19RP 776-77. The odor of marijuana was prevalent in the apartment, and Robert told police his roommate was a social user of marijuana. 19RP 779. Robert never mentioned that his brother was at the apartment during the robbery, because Aaron was not supposed to be living with him. 19RP 815; 20RP 1035.

Dato was robbed again two weeks later. He was sitting in the living room, while Aaron and Jeffery Turner were in the bedroom playing video games. 20RP 1037. Someone knocked on the door, and when Robert tried to open the door a little bit to see who was there, a man pushed the door all the way open. 20RP 1038-39. Two more men came

in as well, and Robert recognized one of them from the first robbery. He was wearing braids, a black bandana, and green shoes. The first man was light-skinned black and had a gap in his teeth. Robert did not see the third man. 20RP 1040-41. The two men he saw were both holding guns. 20RP 1043.

The men forced Robert into the room with Aaron and Turner, and they took two televisions, two Xboxes, a phone, some cash, and a laptop from the apartment. 20RP 1044-45. When they left, Robert called the police. Police spoke to Robert, Aaron, and Turner. 20RP 1010. Aaron reported that one of the robbers had used the name "Mook." 20RP 1013.

b. Shore Drive

On September 29, 2010, Brett Cummings arrived at his apartment on Shore Drive in Bremerton. As he opened his door, two men pointed guns in his face and followed him inside. The men were wearing ball caps with bandanas over their faces. 21RP 1173-74. They kept asking for marijuana. 21RP 1175. Cummings was a medical marijuana user who spoke openly about his use. 21RP 1182.

When one of the men told the other to shut the door, Cummings became scared and walked toward the door. One of the men tried to stop him by hitting him in the face with a gun, but Cummings pushed past him and got to the door. Then the other man grabbed him, and both men

repeatedly hit him over the head with the butts of their guns. 21RP 1175-76. Cummings started screaming for help, and the men ran off. One of them took Cummings's laptop. 21RP 1176.

In a call to 911, Cummings's neighbor reported hearing a man yelling for help and seeing three men run out of his apartment. 21RP 1163. Police responded and contacted Cummings, who said he had just been robbed. 21RP 1166. Cummings described the guns as "Glock-style" smaller automatics. He said the men were thin, average height or a little taller, maybe 20 to 24 years old. One was wearing a red cap with a black bill and the other might have been wearing a black hoodie over a hat. One wore a red bandana and the other wore a black one, and the bandanas looked new. 21RP 1178-79. Cummings did not recognize any of the men. 21RP 1180.

c. Weatherstone

On October 3, 2010, Kimberly Birkett returned to her home in the Weatherstone Apartments in Bremerton to discover her home had been ransacked. 22RP 1212, 1220. Birkett had spent the evening with her son at the home of her friend Kesha. Kesha's friend Megan Duckworth had been there for a while as well, but she left. A few minutes later, Megan called Kesha saying she had a fight with her boyfriend, and Kesha left to

pick her up. 22RP 1215-16. Kesha returned about a half hour later. 22RP 1237. Kesha later drove Birkett and her son home. 22RP 1217.

Everything in the apartment was torn apart and moved around. Birkett's television was missing, as was the cash she kept in her bedroom. 22RP 1224-25. Her son's television, cash, DVDs, Xbox, games, and controllers were all taken, as well as a sword and some brass knuckles from his room. 22RP 1228-30, 1232.

d. Wedgewood

On November 3, 2010, police were dispatched to investigate a robbery at an apartment on Wedgewood Lane. They spoke to Aaron Tucheck, his wife Ann Marie Tucheck, and their roommate Keefe Jackson. 22RP 1252-53. When they arrived at the apartment, law enforcement saw that the door casing was broken, the plate for the deadbolt was knocked off, and there was a muddy shoe print on the door. 22RP 1254. The apartment was in general disarray. 22RP 1255. There was an odor of marijuana in the apartment, and there was a glass marijuana pipe on the floor. 22RP 1256. Tucheck explained that he is a medical marijuana user. 22RP 1417.

Shortly before midnight Aaron Tucheck had been playing video games in the living room while both his wife and roommate were sleeping. He heard a knock at the door, and looked through the peephole. He saw a

man wearing a camouflage jacket zipped to his nose. 22RP 1302. Tucheck opened the door slowly, saw three men with guns pointed at him, and slammed the door shut. 22RP 1304. As Tucheck turned to call the police, the men kicked the door in and entered the apartment. 22RP 1305. The man in the camouflage jacket was holding a big silver revolver with a purple bandana. A second man was wearing a grey hoodie and a blue bandana, and the third man was wearing a blue hoodie and a blue bandana. 22RP 1308. They both held black guns. 22RP 1309.

The man in the camouflage jacket told Tucheck to sit down, and the man wearing a blue hoodie got Jackson from his room. 22RP 1305. The man in the jacket stayed in the living room with Tucheck and Jackson while the other two men went into the bedrooms. 22RP 1307. The man in the grey hoodie brought Tucheck to his bedroom to open a safe. 22RP 1308. Tucheck asked the man not to wake his wife. The man hit Tucheck with a gun and took the contents of the safe, Ann Marie's phone, a jar of marijuana, a game system and some games, and \$250 in cash. 22RP 1312, 1327. Ann Marie's wallet was taken from her purse on the kitchen table. 22RP 1333.

When Tucheck returned to the living room, he saw the man with the blue hoodie come out of Jackson's room with a blanket wrapped around some items, including Ann Marie's shot gun and Jackson's safe. 22RP 1315-16. Inside Jackson's safe were some cash and a zippered pouch containing his rosary. 22RP 1356. When the men left, Tucheck woke his wife and they left the apartment to call the police. 22RP 1318-19.

Jackson had been home alone earlier that day when he heard a knock at the door. 22RP 1359. He looked through the peephole and saw two African American men he did not recognize. One of the men looked like he was examining the lock. After a few minutes, the men left. Jackson could not say whether these were the same men who broke into his apartment later that night. 22RP 1360-61.

e. Traffic Stop

Bremerton Police Detective Mike Davis was investigating these and other home invasions in the Bremerton area. 16RP 425-26. He had no suspect information until November 17, 2010, when he received a call from Chris Devenere. 16RP 426. Devenere gave him the name of Joe Perez. 16RP 429.

Devenere had met Perez at a friend's house, where Perez was bragging about some robberies he had done. One of the robberies Perez described was committed against Devenere's friend. 19RP 854-55. When Devenere learned that Perez was planning to rob his friend again, he went

to the police. 19RP 859, 861. He spoke to Detective Davis and Kitsap County Sheriff's Detective Chad Birkenfeld. 19RP 861; 20RP 924.

Devenere devised a plan to convince Perez and his associates that there was a better house to rob. 19RP 863-64. Working with police, Devenere arranged to meet Perez at the Fred Meyer parking lot in Bremerton, where he would pass on information about this other, fictitious location. 16RP 434-35; 19RP 864-85. Police would conduct surveillance of the meeting, then follow Perez as he left and conduct a traffic stop. 16RP 430; 19RP 864.

Devenere told Davis that the people he was meeting would be in a black pickup truck, and he and his friend would be in a red Chevy Tahoe. 16RP 434-35. The surveillance team observed both vehicles enter the parking lot. 16RP 436; 20RP 926.

When the black truck pulled up, Devenere saw two black men in the truck with Perez. Perez stepped out of the truck, and the front seat passenger opened his door but remained inside. 19RP 867-68. Perez asked Devenere about the house they were supposed to rob, and Devenere asked Perez if they had guns. Perez said they did. 19RP 869. Perez did most of the talking during this conversation, but the front seat passenger asked Devenere how he knew about the person they were supposed to rob. 19RP 870.

After this meeting, Devenere pulled out of the parking lot, and the black truck followed. 19RP 872. A patrol car followed the vehicles, and Davis and Birkenfeld followed the patrol car. 16RP 436. The black pickup truck was pulled over, and the occupants were ordered out. 16RP 437, 440. The driver was Jerrell Smith, the front seat passenger was La'Juanta Conner, and the rear passenger was Joe Perez. 16RP 441. The three men were placed in separate patrol cars and transported to the police department for interviews. 16RP 442.

Davis obtained and executed a search warrant for the truck. 16RP 442-43. In the bed of the truck he found a black bag containing some paperwork, two blue bandanas, and two loaded firearms. One gun was a Hi-Point .40 caliber semiautomatic pistol, and the other was a .44 Magnum revolver. 16RP 448-55. The serial number of the Hi-Point had been filed off, but the crime lab was able to restore it, and it was determined that the gun was stolen. 16RP 451, 460. The Magnum was also determined to be stolen. 16RP 456.

Davis took swabs from the trigger guards of the guns and sent the swabs, the guns, and the bandanas to the crime lab for DNA testing. 16RP 458, 463. Partial complex mixtures of DNA from multiple people were found on the guns and bandanas. No meaningful comparisons were possible. 17RP 502-507.

In the glove compartment of the truck, Davis found the cell phone that had been taken from Ann Marie Tucheck. 16RP 467. When the phone was powered up, police saw a photo of Kevion Alexander on the screen. 16RP 469. A baggie of marijuana was found behind the back seat of the inner cab, where Perez had been sitting. 18RP 694, 696.

After completing his search of the truck, Davis returned to the station to interview the suspects. 16RP 470. He and Birkenfeld first spoke to Perez, who declined to be interviewed. 16RP 470; 20RP 958. Then the detectives interviewed Conner. Conner told the detectives he had been staying with his girlfriend, Rachel Duckworth, then he and Perez drove to the Olive Garden in Silverdale to pick up Smith from work. They were headed back to Rachel's apartment, but he changed his mind. 16RP 475-76. Conner initially denied being at the Fred Meyer parking lot for a meeting but then said there had been a conversation between Perez and two men in an SUV. Conner said he was not involved in the conversation, and he was on the phone the entire time. 16RP 478-79; 17RP 604; 32RP 2302. Conner asked Davis to look at his phone to see that he had been texting at the time, but Davis never did so. 32RP 2302-03.

As a result of Smith's interview that night, police considered Conner a suspect in the home invasions. 17RP 608. When the detectives asked Conner about the home invasions, Conner said he was not involved

in any of them. 16RP 479. Conner said the word on the street was that the home invasions were occurring, but he did not know the names of anyone involved. 16RP 481-82. Conner said he was not planning to commit a robbery or burglary that night. 17RP 540.

f. Police Investigation

Smith was first interviewed on the night of the traffic stop. He talked about various home invasions and named numerous people in a lengthy recorded interview. 19RP 771-72. Police did not believe he was being entirely forthcoming, however. 19RP 771. During the interview the officers told Smith they wanted him to be honest. They said they could not make deals, but they assured him that if he cooperated they would ask the prosecutor for favorable treatment for Smith. 19RP 789. They mentioned the possibility that Smith could be released on personal recognizance. 19RP 790. They also told Smith that the first suspect to start talking would reap the benefits. 19RP 805.

After the interview, Smith agreed to ride in the patrol car and show officers the locations of the crimes. The ride-along was recorded, but 20 to 30 minutes into it, Smith asked the officers to stop recording. 19RP 772-73.

Police learned that everyone in Smith's truck at the time of the traffic stop was associated with Kevion Alexander, whose street name was

Mook. 20RP 978. Police obtained a warrant for Alexander's arrest, and they learned from Smith that he was staying at Rachel Duckworth's apartment. 17RP 564. Davis and about 25 officers executed a search warrant for Alexander at the apartment. 17RP 565, 574. Alexander was not found in the apartment, but the officers seized a safe like the one stolen in the Wedgewood robbery. 17RP 586. Inside the safe were documents belonging to Conner and Smith, as well as a zippered pouch containing a rosary. 17RP 587-592.

Davis interviewed Smith on December 14, 2010, and January 26, 2011. 17RP 553. Smith provided information about suspects in the 12th Street, Shore Drive, and Wedgewood robberies and the Weatherstone burglary. 17RP 555-56. He also gave information about other robberies and burglaries that had not been reported. 17RP 556.

Alexander was arrested and interviewed December 21, 2010. 18RP 712. He did not provide any details about the offenses at that time. 18RP 721. Davis interviewed Alexander on March 17, 2011, at the sheriff's office. 17RP 561. At that time Alexander provided specific information about robberies he had committed and about robberies and burglaries he said he did not commit. 17RP 562-63.

g. Trial testimony

Smith testified at trial that he met Conner through Troy Brown, and he used to buy marijuana from Conner. He met Alexander through Conner. 24RP 1426-27. According to Smith, he, Conner and Alexander lived together for a short time in the fall of 2010. 24RP 1426.

Smith testified that before he went to work on November 17, 2010, he was at Rachel Duckworth's apartment with Conner and Perez, and he heard them talking about doing a robbery. They asked to borrow his truck, and Perez dropped him off at work. 24RP 1428-30. Perez and Conner picked him up from work around 11:30. Smith drove a co-worker home, and then Perez told him to drive to the Fred Meyer in Bremerton. Smith knew they were meeting someone about a robbery, because Perez had texted him while he was at work. 24RP 1431-33.

Smith testified that when they got to Fred Meyer, Conner stepped out of the truck and spoke with two men in an SUV. He then told Smith to follow the SUV. 24RP 1434. They saw police cars as they pulled out of the parking lot, and Perez said he had marijuana and a gun on him. 24RP 1435-36. Smith was not surprised when Perez said he had a gun. He had seen and handled the guns the police found in his truck many times. 24RP 1438-41. According to Smith, Alexander and Brown had handled the Hi-

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