NO. 43762-7-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LA'JUANTA LE'VEAR CONNER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON
Superior Court No. 11-1-00435-8

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RUSSELL D. HAUGE
Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL A. SUTTON
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street
Port Orchard, WA 98366
(360) 337-7174

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

I said, “Oh, okay. She was?”

He clarified he was the one that cross-examined her, and he described what I have already described about his technique and tactics.

19RP 830-33.

The judge observed that while *Williamson* appeared to be good law. 19RP 834. She further observed that absent her own faulty recollection of the *Olsen* trial, the prosecutor would have more quickly investigated the juror. 19RP 835. She therefore concluded that under *Williamson*, allow the State to strike the juror was appropriate, so long as the defendant would not be prejudiced. 19RP 836.

The judge then examined the question of prejudice. She could find none. She noted that the jury had not begun deliberations, and further, that one alternate would remain available. 19RP 836. She then examined what she viewed to be the *Williamson* rationale:

Under the *Williamson* reasoning is it just simply, is this information that is a surprise? And I would say that, yes, it is. It is information that, had the parties known during the time when they could have exercised a challenge, would

they? Yes, they would have.

19RP 837. The judge specifically rejected the defense contention that the situation was unforeseen:

THE COURT: ... Your argument is that the State should have foreseen this and should have been able to exercise its preemptory prior to the jury being impanelled, and for the reasons I have stated, I'm not sure that was a reasonable probability.

Two things were going on. One is that I had telegraphed that I didn't believe that a challenge for cause would be appropriate. I still believe that the juror had given the right answers to survive a challenge for cause, and it just didn't occur to me to even offer a preemptory. Had I done so, I believe that Ms. Lewis would have taken up the opportunity to exercise a preemptory at that time.

Even then, we still would have been left with 13 jurors, prospective, in the case unless we were all willing to take more time to try to develop one or two more jurors as alternates. That would be from a different panel entirely.

So for all of those reasons, I am going to allow the State to exercise its last preemptory challenge against Juror No. 4; that is, Ms. Olsen.

19RP 843-44.

Here the trial judge carefully considered the controlling case law, weighed the facts before it, and reached a reasonable decision. It cannot be said she abused her discretion.

Conner nevertheless argues that the trial court's decision was a material departure from the statutes or rules such that prejudice should be presumed and a new trial had. A review of the cases where a material

departure has been found, however, all have involved irregularities that resulted in *denial* of a peremptory, the sitting of biased jurors, or called into question another constitutional right. *See, e.g., State v. Bird*, 136 Wn. App. 127, 148 P.3d 1058 (2006) (improper denial of peremptory reversible error where juror deliberated); *State v. Tingdale*, 117 Wn.2d 595, 817 P.2d 850 (1991) (reversible error where trial court allowed clerk to excuse jurors for cause, and then refused to allow defendant to voir dire the jurors); *Bothell v. Barnhart*, 172 Wn.2d 223, 257 P.3d 648 (2011) (seating jurors who did not reside in the county where the offense was committed was a violation of state constitution and a material departure requiring presumptive prejudice); *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 246 P.3d 796 (2011) . It thus appears that before a defendant is entitled to reversal from irregularity in jury selection, there must have been a violation of *his* procedural or constitutional rights, or have resulted in the seating of an unqualified juror.

By way of contrast, both the United States and Washington Supreme Courts have declined to find reversible error where a juror should have been excused for cause, but was not, and the defendant used his last peremptory to excuse the juror. *United States v. Martinez-Salazar*, 528 U.S. 304, 120 S. Ct. 774, 145 L. Ed. 2d 792 (2000); *State v. Fire*, 145 Wn.2d 152, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001). These cases comport with the Supreme

Court's explanation that to be consider material, deviation from the statutory scheme must be a "gross departure." *State v. Twyman*, 143 Wn.2d 115, 122, 17 P.3d 1184 (2001) (quoting *State v. Rice*, 120 Wn.2d 549, 562, 844 P.2d 416 (1993)).

The purpose of the jury selection statutes is to "provide a fair and impartial jury, and if that end has been attained and the litigant has had the benefit of such a jury, it ought not to be held that the whole proceeding must be annulled because of some slight irregularity." *Rice*, 120 Wn.2d at 562 (quoting *State v. Finlayson*, 69 Wn.2d 155, 157, 417 P.2d 624 (1966)). An isolated irregularity does not constitute a material departure from the statutory jury selection process. *Rice*, 120 Wn.2d at 562. Under the circumstances, Conner has not shown a gross departure from the jury selection statute or resulting prejudice. This claim should be rejected.

B. CONNER FAILS TO SHOW THAT DAVIS'S TESTIMONY REGARDING THE USE OF A RUSE, INTRODUCED DURING CROSS-EXAMINATION, WAS IMPROPER OPINION TESTIMONY THAT SHOULD BE CONSIDERED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

Conner next claims that Detective Davis improperly gave opinion testimony about Conner's veracity and guilt. This claim is not preserved and is without merit. On cross examination, Conner submitted to Davis that he had lied to Conner during his interview. Davis responded that he

had used a ruse. On redirect, the State explored what a ruse was and why the police would use one. At no point did Davis offer an explicit or near-explicit opinion on Conner's guilt or veracity.

Generally, this Court will not consider an evidentiary issue raised for the first time on appeal, and any error is deemed waived. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, ¶ 20, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). The reason for this rule is that timely objection gives a trial court the opportunity to prevent or cure error. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at ¶ 17. For example, a trial court may strike testimony or provide a curative instruction to the jury. *Id.*

A narrow exception exists, however, for “manifest error(s) affecting a constitutional right.” RAP 2.5(a)(3); *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at ¶ 20. However, the Court on appeal “will not approve a party’s failure to object at trial that could identify error which the trial court might correct (through striking the testimony and/or curative jury instruction),” because “[f]ailure to object deprives the trial court of this opportunity to prevent or cure the error.” *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at ¶ 53. The decision not to object is often tactical. *Id.* If raised on appeal only after losing at trial, a retrial may be required with substantial consequences. *Id.* The defendant therefore must show the error is “manifest,” meaning, in the present context, that the testimony included an explicit or nearly explicit opinion of guilt that

resulted in actual prejudice. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at ¶¶ 21, 23. Although Connor cites to *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001), the Supreme Court has specifically disapproved *Demery* the extent that it concluded that a comment on another witness's credibility was necessarily manifest constitutional error. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at ¶ 56-58.

In considering whether testimony that is alleged to comment on a witness's veracity is improper, "the court will consider the circumstances of the case, including the following factors: '(1) the type of witness involved, (2) the specific nature of the testimony, (3) the nature of the charges, (4) the type of defense, and (5) the other evidence before the trier of fact.'" *State v. Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d 350, ¶ 14, 229 P.3d 669 (2010) (quoting *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 928). To be improper, the testimony must amount to "a direct comment on ... the victim's veracity." *Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d at 16.

In *Kirkman* the Supreme Court thus found that a physician's testimony was not an improper comment on the victim's veracity:

The Court of Appeals erroneously deemed Dr. Stirling's testimony as "clearly" an improper opinion implying Kirkman's guilt. Dr. Stirling was not "clearly" commenting on A.D.'s credibility and actually testified that his findings neither corroborated nor undercut A.D.'s account. Dr. Stirling did not come close to testifying that Kirkman was guilty or that he believed A.D.'s account. Dr. Stirling's statement that A.D.'s account was "clear and consistent" does not constitute an opinion on her credibility. A witness or victim may "clearly and consistently" provide an

account that is false. The jury properly was instructed to determine the facts. Thus, Dr. Stirling's testimony was not a manifest error of constitutional magnitude.

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at ¶ 34.

The issue of the use of a ruse was first brought up by the defense on cross-examination of Detective Davis:

Q. Okay. Now, in the interview you tell Mr. Conner that Mr. Perez is [sic] and Mr. Smith are both in the other room pointing the finger at him related to the guns, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. But, in fact, at that point Mr. Smith had said that the guns belonged to Joe Perez, didn't he?

A. That point may have been a ruse, yes.

17RP 605. Counsel then played a portion of the video of Conner's interview with the detectives. 17RP 607. He then accused Davis of "lying" to Conner:

Q. Right there, were you lying at that point?

A. At what point?

Q. Right here when you said that you've got one of the two. You are saying that they put a gun in his hand, the Hi-Point?

A. I believe that Detective Birkenfeld said that they put the gun in his hand.

Q. But you went along with it, didn't you?

A. I did.

Q. And that wasn't true, was it?

A. It was a ruse.

Q. Okay. That is common?

A. Sure.

Q. That is something that you do in police work is

that you make people think that you have something when you don't have something?

A. That is correct.

17RP 607-08. The tenor of this examination was part of an overall strategy on counsel's part to suggest that Conner was targeted without cause. In fact, the State raised the issue with the trial court during Conner's cross-examination of Conner:

He has made a couple of references now to the fact that the State simply wants to point the finger at Mr. Conner solely, and he indicates that Mr. Alexander goes by the wayside. Mr. Smith goes by the wayside. He also indicated that Mr. Perez went by the wayside.

Mr. Perez pled guilty, and he was sentenced to ten years in prison for his involvement in these incidences.

Mr. Brown was convicted after a trial for his involvement in these incidents, so for defense to try and suggest, especially in front of the jury, that we are targeting Mr. Conner is absolutely incorrect, and it's not with a good-faith basis.

So I am going to ask the Court to instruct Mr. Longacre that he is not to make those accusations because they are just completely false.

17RP 623-24; 640.

On cross-examination, the State responded to these concerns by clarifying what a ruse was and why the police used it.

Q. So that brings us, then, to the interview at the Bremerton Police Department, and specifically the interview with Mr. Conner. There was a discussion about a ruse. Do you recall that discussion in your cross-examination?

A. I do.

Q. Can you tell us what a ruse is?

A. A ruse is a statement made by police to elicit the truth of the matter.

Q. And when you do that, can you tell us – well, let's talk directly to this case. Was there a ruse involved in this case when you were interviewing Mr. Conner?

A. Yes.

Q. Let's back up a little bit. When you went in to interview Mr. Conner, did you have any information from what Mr. Smith was telling detectives?

A. I initially spoke with Detective Bogen, who was interviewing Jerrell Smith prior to me arriving back at the police department.

Q. Did Detective Bogen give you any information about what Mr. Smith had been telling them?

A. Yes. It was a very quick meeting. Detective Bogen indicated that Jerrell Smith --

MR. LONGACRE: Objection as to what Detective Bogen indicated.

THE COURT: Overruled.

Q. You can answer.

A. Detective Bogen indicated that Jerrell Smith was cooperating during his interview and that Jerrell Smith had been admitting to having knowledge of robberies and burglaries, and the fact that there were weapons in the truck at the time that they were stopped.

Q. Based on the information that Detective Bogen gave you, was there any indication that Mr. Conner knew that there were guns in the truck?

A. Yes.

Q. What was that?

A. Jerrell Smith stated that --

MR. LONGACRE: Objection to what Jerrell Smith stated. If I can't get into it, the State shouldn't be able to get into it.

MS. LEWIS: Your Honor, this goes to the issue of the ruse.

MR. LONGACRE: Very well might, but the State – if – as long as it opens the door for me, I don't have a problem.

THE COURT: Why don't you ask the question in another way.

MS. LEWIS: I can.

Q. Detective, did you have information that Mr. Conner specifically possessed the Hi-Point pistol?

MR. LONGACRE: Objection. Hearsay.

THE COURT: Overruled.

A. Yes. Can you ask me again, please?

Q. Did you have information that Mr. Conner specifically possessed the Hi-Point pistol?

A. Yes.

Q. That he specifically possessed that particular gun?

A. No, not that particular gun.

Q. So when Detective Birkenfeld said to Mr. Conner, "We have somebody that places that gun in your hands – the Hi-Point pistol in your hands, was that a ruse?"

A. Yes.

Q. Did you have information that – well, did you have information that Mr. Conner had possessed one of the guns – at least one of the guns?

A. I took it as Mr. Conner had knowledge that there were guns in the vehicle based on what he said to Jerrell Smith.

Q. When you are employing a technique like a ruse, what is your intention?

A. To elicit the truth.

Q. Why do you do it that way?

A. I only do it when I have facts or believe that it says otherwise what the person is telling me. I don't just throw it out there if I have no knowledge of what we are talking about. I would have to have facts, or at least an

opinion, on whether this person is not being truthful with me to use a ruse.

Q. Let me ask you this: Do you use it in order to get a confession from someone?

A. No. I get it – I use it to get the facts. That is what I am is a fact-finder.

18RP 727-30.

At no point did Davis explicitly or nearly explicitly offer an opinion on Conner’s guilt or even his veracity. To the contrary, the focus of the examination was why *Davis* lied to Conner. It clear intent was to rebut the defense suggestion that the police were lying to Conner to trick him into giving a (presumably false) confession.

Furthermore, under analogous circumstances, the Washington Supreme Court has concluded that there was no prejudice where, despite allegedly improper opinion testimony on witness credibility, the trial court had properly instructed the jury that jurors ““are the sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses and of what weight is to be given to the testimony of each”” and that jurors ““are not bound”” by witness opinions. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 937 (quoting Clerk’s Papers). The trial court here gave virtually identical instructions, CP 236, 242, which the Court presumes the jury followed. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 937; *see also State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, ¶ 34, 183 P.3d 267 (2008).

Conner has failed to demonstrate manifest constitutional error with regard to this claim. As such, the Court should decline to consider it.

Moreover, even if the Court were to find reviewable error, it would be harmless. In the course of the six-week trial, Davis's discussion of the ruse was brief. Additionally, the jury both saw the video of Davis's multi-hour interview of Conner, and heard Conner's live testimony at trial. They had ample opportunity to judge his credibility for themselves.

Further, the State presented extensive testimony of two of Conner's coconspirators, whose testimony was amply corroborated by the testimony of the victims and by the numerous items of physical evidence that linked Conner to the crimes. There simply is no reasonable possibility that if the testimony had been omitted from trial the outcome would have been different. This claim should be rejected.

C. CONNER FAILS TO SHOW THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE RUSE TESTIMONY.

Conner next claims that he fails to meet the standard for considering his ruse claim for the first time on appeal, it should be considered as ineffectiveness of counsel. For the same reasons as the previous claim fails, so does this one.

In order to overcome the strong presumption of effectiveness that applies to counsel's representation, a defendant bears the burden of demonstrating both deficient performance and prejudice. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); *see also*

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